
UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 
BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 
U.S. ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION AGENCY 

In the Matter of ) 
) 

Matthew H. Swyers, ) Proceeding No. D2016-20 
) 

Respondent ) 
___________________________________  ) 

COMPLAINT AND 
NOTICE OF PROCEEDINGS UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 32 

The Director of the Office of Enrollment and Discipline (“OED Director”) for the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO” or “Office”) hereby gives notice of a disciplinary 

proceeding and statement of charges against Matthew H. Swyers (“Respondent”) as follows: 

This Complaint and Notice of Proceedings (“Complaint”) is filed pursuant to 

37 C.F.R. §§ 11.32 and 11.34.  Within thirty days from the date of the filing of this Complaint, 

Respondent’s written answer shall be filed with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s 

Office of Administrative Law Judges, and a copy of the answer shall be served on the OED 

Director.  See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.34(a)(3), 11.36(a), and 11.36(b).  The attached Notice of 

Correspondence Addresses provides the four options for Respondent to file the answer with the 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s Office of Administrative Law Judges and to serve a copy 

of the answer on the OED Director (i.e., by U.S. Postal Service, courier service or hand-delivery, 

facsimile transmission, or electronic filing).  A decision by default may be entered against 

Respondent if a written answer is not timely filed.  See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.34(a)(4) and 11.36(e).  The 

provisions of 37 C.F.R. § 11.41 govern the filing of papers in this disciplinary proceeding. 
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Jurisdiction 

At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent, of Vienna, Virginia, has been an 

attorney licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia and the District of Columbia 

and is an attorney practicing before the USPTO in trademark matters.  As such, he is subject to the 

USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, which is set forth at 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq., and 

USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, which are set forth at 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101 through 

11.901.1  This Tribunal has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 2(b)(2)(D) 

and 32, and 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.19, 11.32, and 11.39.  

Background 

1. Respondent was licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia on 

October 15, 1996, and by the District of Columbia on November 6, 1998.  

2. Respondent was employed by the USPTO as a Trademark Examining Attorney 

from December 2000 through September 2002. 

3. Respondent’s acts and omissions leading to the alleged violations of the USPTO 

Code of Professional Responsibility and the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct set forth in 

this Complaint were willful. 

  

                                                 

1 The USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility applies to conduct prior to May 3, 2013, and 
the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct apply to conduct thereafter.  The allegations of 
misconduct set forth in this Complaint occurred before and after May 3, 2013.   
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COUNT I 
(Assisting others in engaging in the unauthorized practice of law; failure to 

review trademark applications and other trademark documents before filing; 
misrepresentations to clients) 

4. Paragraphs 1 through 3 above are incorporated by reference.

Trademark Practice before the Office 

5. Any individual who is an attorney as defined in 37 C.F.R. § 11.1 may represent

others before the USPTO in trademark matters.  See 37 C.F.R. § 11.14(a).  Individuals who are not 

attorneys (except for some limited exceptions not relevant here) are not recognized to practice 

before the USPTO in trademark matters.  See generally 37 C.F.R. §§ 2.17(a) and 11.14(b). 

6. Practice before the USPTO in trademark matters includes, but is not limited to,

consulting with or giving advice to a client in contemplation of filing a trademark application or 

other document with the USPTO; preparing and prosecuting an application for trademark 

registration; and preparing an amendment which may require written argument in order for the 

USPTO to register the mark.  37 C.F.R. § 11.5(b)(2).   

7. Preparing and filing trademark applications, preparing and filing responses to

Office Actions, providing legal advice about trademark matters, and rendering legal advice about 

trademark search opinions is practice before the USPTO in trademark matters. See 

37 C.F.R. § 11.5(b)(2). 

The Trademark Company 

8. In the fall of 2003, Respondent began operating his law firm, The Trademark

Company, PLLC (“The Trademark Company”). 

9. Initially, The Trademark Company’s business was primarily focused on litigation

before the USPTO Trademark Trial and Appeal Board (“TTAB”) with a lesser amount of work 

relating to trademark applications.   
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10. The USPTO’s Trademark Electronic Search System (“TESS”) indicates that

Respondent and The Trademark Company are connected to the filing and/or examination of the 

following number of trademark applications from 2003 and 2015: 

Year Number of Applications 
2003     62 
2004   150 
2005   194 
2006   160 
2007   164 
2008   189 
2009   398 
2010 1484 
2011 2342 
2012 3264 
2013 3346 
2014 3184 
2015 3872 

11. Between 2003 and 2008, Respondent personally performed all of his firm’s

trademark prosecution work.  

12. In 2008, Respondent began hiring part-time employees, and by 2015, he employed

11 people.  None of these individuals were licensed attorneys. 

13. The Trademark Company was connected with 17,492 trademark applications for

the five-year period from January 1, 2010, through December 31, 2015. 

14. Beginning in 2010, Respondent’s employees prepared trademark applications and

other trademark documents with inadequate or no supervision by Respondent. 

15. Beginning in 2010, Respondent allowed and/or directed his employees to

electronically sign or forge Respondent’s signature to trademark applications, declarations, and 

other trademark documents, and to file them with the Office.   

16. In addition, from January 1, 2010, through January 28, 2015, Respondent also

maintained an active litigation practice before the agency’s TTAB.  He is identified in 1,201 TTAB 
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proceedings (appeals, oppositions, cancellations) as the attorney to whom correspondence was 

directed on behalf of both plaintiffs and defendants during that period. 

17. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent was the only attorney employed

by The Trademark Company. 

18. Respondent trained his employees how to prepare trademark applications and

responses to Office Actions through two weeks of classes, which he called his “Trademark 

University.”  

19. At the end of the two week training period, employees were supposed to be ready

“to evaluate the refusals, advise the clients, and prepare the draft responses” with respect to Office 

Actions. 

20. Respondent also provided the employees with a “form manual” that allowed them

to provide legal advice to clients. 

21. Respondent taught his employees how to “cut and paste” standard template

paragraphs regarding trademark law to enable them to  independently prepare trademark 

applications, provide legal advice to clients, and respond to Office Actions issued by USPTO 

Trademark Examining Attorneys.  

22. Respondent directed his employees to “use the forms” from the form manual to

enable them to “evaluate the refusals, advise the clients, and prepare the draft responses.” 

23. Respondent directed his employees to use “original thought in amending the forms

so they represent the best possible response for our clients.” 

24. In addition to using cut and paste forms when responding to Office Actions,

Respondent taught and directed his employees to recite “call scripts” and “scripted voice mails” 

when communicating with clients. 
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25. Respondent configured The Trademark Company’s computer system so that Office 

Actions emailed from a USPTO Trademark Examining Attorney to Respondent bypassed him and 

were automatically forwarded to a non-lawyer employee for review.  

26. Beginning in 2010, if an Office Action was deemed by the non-lawyer employee 

receiving the email to involve no substantive issue, a response was prepared, electronically signed 

with Respondent’s signature, and filed without any involvement by Respondent. 

27. During this time period, hundreds of responses to Office Actions and other 

trademark documents were filed by The Trademark Company’s non-lawyer employees without 

proper supervision by Respondent. 

28. Beginning in 2010, Respondent did not review all responses to Office Actions and 

other trademark documents before they were filed with the Office. 

29. Respondent configured The Trademark Company’s telephone system to distribute 

incoming client calls randomly to employees.   

30. Non-attorney employees regularly communicated directly with applicants about 

substantive trademark legal matters concerning their trademarks and applications and provided 

legal advice. 

31. Respondent, through The Trademark Company, also offered a variety of trademark 

search opinions, which are designed to determine if a proposed mark is already in use or available.  

32. Respondent directed or allowed his employees to provide legal advice regarding 

trademark search opinions directly to clients on his behalf. 
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Operation of The Trademark Company from July 1, 2013 to January 28, 2015 

33. At Respondent’s direction, from July 1, 2013, through January 28, 2015, non-

lawyer employees of The Trademark Company prepared and filed 4,248 trademark applications 

on behalf of The Trademark Company clients seeking registration of their trademarks. 

34. During this period, Respondent directed or allowed non-lawyer employees of The

Trademark Company to electronically sign or forge Respondent’s electronic signature to his 

clients’ trademark applications.  

35. During this period, Respondent admitted to OED that he did not review the

trademark applications before they were filed with the Office. 

36. By reason of the conduct described above, Respondent has engaged in the following

misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013: 

a. engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct by, inter alia: directing or
allowing his employees to prepare, sign, and file trademark applications,
responses to Office Actions, and other trademark documents; directing or
allowing his employees to provide legal advice and guidance to trademark
applicants; and/or directing or allowing his employees to communicate with his
clients about trademark search reports and opinions, without his involvement
or supervision, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the USPTO Code of
Professional Responsibility;

b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation
by, inter alia: not informing clients who purchased trademark legal services
from The Trademark Company that their applications and other trademark
documents were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed
with the Office in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the USPTO Code of
Professional Responsibility;

c. engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia:
(i) directing or allowing his employees to prepare, sign, and file trademark
applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark documents;
directing or allowing his employees to provide legal advice and guidance to
trademark applicants; and/or directing or allowing his employees to
communicate with his clients about trademark search reports and opinions,
without his involvement or supervision; and/or (ii) not reviewing trademark
applications and other trademark documents (e.g., responses to Office Actions)
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prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the Office, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(5) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility; 
 

d. aiding a non-practitioner in the unauthorized practice of law before the Office 
by, inter alia: (i) directing or allowing his employees to prepare, sign, and file 
trademark applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark 
documents; directing or allowing his employees to provide legal advice and 
guidance to trademark applicants; and/or directing or allowing his employees 
to communicate with his clients about trademark search reports and opinions, 
without his involvement or supervision; and/or (ii) not reviewing trademark 
applications and other trademark documents (e.g., responses to Office Actions) 
prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the Office in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.47(a) and (c) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility; 

 
e. neglecting client matters by, inter alia: not reviewing trademark applications, 

responses to Office Actions, and other trademark documents prepared and filed 
by his employees before they were filed with the Office, in violation of               
37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
f. intentionally or habitually violating any provision of the USPTO Code of 

Professional Responsibility while appearing in a professional capacity before a 
tribunal by, inter alia: (i) directing or allowing his employees to prepare, sign, 
and file trademark applications, responses to Office Actions, and other 
trademark documents; directing or allowing his employees to provide legal 
advice and guidance to  trademark applicants; and/or directing or allowing his 
employees to communicate with his clients about trademark search reports and 
opinions, without his involvement or supervision; and/or (ii) not reviewing 
trademark applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark 
documents prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the 
Office; in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.89(c)(6) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; and/or 

 
g. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 

fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count I of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise 
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility. 

 
37. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 
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a. failing to provide competent representation by, inter alia: not reviewing
trademark applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark
documents prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the
Office, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 of the USPTO Rules of Professional
Conduct;

b. assisting other persons in the unauthorized practice of law before the USPTO
by, inter alia: (i) directing or allowing his employees to prepare, sign, and file
trademark applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark
documents; directing or allowing his employees to provide legal advice and
guidance to trademark applicants; and/or directing or allowing his employees
to communicate with his clients about trademark search reports and opinions,
without his involvement or supervision; and/or (ii) not reviewing trademark
applications and other trademark documents (e.g., responses to Office Actions)
prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the Office, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.505 of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct;

c. engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia:
(i) directing or allowing his employees to prepare, sign, and file trademark
applications, responses to Office Actions, and other trademark documents;
directing or allowing his employees to provide legal advice and guidance to
trademark applicants; and/or directing or allowing his employees to
communicate with his clients about trademark search reports and opinions,
without his involvement or supervision; and/or (ii) not reviewing trademark
applications and other trademark documents (e.g., responses to Office Actions)
prepared and filed by his employees before they were filed with the Office, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(d) of the USPTO Rules of Professional
Conduct;

d. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation
by, inter alia: not informing clients who purchased trademark legal services
from The Trademark Company that their applications and other trademark
documents were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed
with the Office, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) of the USPTO Rules of
Professional Conduct; and/or

e. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s
fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in
Count I of the Complaint, to the extent that the conduct does not otherwise
violation another provision of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(i) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct.
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COUNT II 
(Directing or allowing non-lawyer employees to sign or forge Respondent’s name 

to trademark applications and other trademark documents filed in the Office, 
in violation of the USPTO signature and certification rules) 

38. Paragraphs 1-35 above are incorporated by reference.

USPTO Trademark Electronic Signature Rules 

39. All documents submitted to the USPTO must be personally signed.  See 37 C.F.R.

§ 11.18; Trademark Manual of Examining Procedure (“TMEP”) § 611.01(b) (“Requirements for

Signature”) and § 611.01(c) (“Signature of Documents Filed Electronically”) (each citing 

37 C.F.R. §§ 2.193(a)(1) and (c)(1)) (emphasis added). 

40. When an attorney represents an applicant, then the documents submitted to the

USPTO on behalf of the client must be personally signed by the attorney. See 

37 C.F.R. §§ 2.193(a)(1), (c)(1), and (e)(2)(i); 37 C.F.R. § 11.14(b) (emphasis added). 

41. A person signing a document electronically must either: (a) personally enter any

combination of letters, numbers, spaces and/or punctuation marks that he or she has adopted as a 

signature, placed between two forward slash (“/”) symbols in the signature block on the electronic 

submission; or (b) sign the verified statement using some other form of electronic signature 

specified by the USPTO Director. 2  See 37 C.F.R. § 2.193(c).   

42. For all electronic signatures on submissions filed through the USPTO’s Trademark

Electronic Application System (“TEAS”), the person(s) identified as the signatory must personally 

and manually enter the elements of the electronic signature.  See generally TMEP §§ 611.01(b) 

and 611.01(c).   

2 At this time, no other form of electronic signature has been specified by the USPTO Director 
pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 2.193(c)(2). 
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43. Another person (e.g., paralegal, legal assistant, or secretary) may not sign the name 

of a qualified practitioner or other authorized signatory.  Typing the electronic signature of another 

person is not a valid signature by that person.  See TMEP § 611.01(c) (citing In re Dermahose, 

Inc., 82 USPQ2d 1793, 1796-1797 (TTAB 2007); In re Cowan, 18 USPQ2d 1407, 1409 (Comm’r 

Pats. 1990)). 

44. An individual may not give another person authority to sign his or her signature to 

trademark documents filed with the Office or delegate authority to another to sign his or her 

declarations.  See In re Dermahose, Inc., 82 USPQ2d 1793, 1796-1797 (TTAB 2007); In re 

Cowan, 18 USPQ2d 1407, 1409 (Comm’r Pats. 1990)).   

45. The signatory on a trademark document electronically filed with the Office must 

be identified.  This means that the name of the person who signs a document in connection with a 

trademark application, registration, or proceeding before the TTAB must be set forth in printed or 

typed form immediately below or adjacent to the signature, or identified elsewhere in the filing 

(e.g., in a cover letter or other document that accompanies the filing).  937 C.F.R. § 2.193(d). 

46. Submitting a trademark document to the Office with a forged signature jeopardizes 

the validity of any trademark issued based on that document and risks the cancellation of the 

mark’s registration.  See generally 37 C.F.R. § 11.18(c). 

47. As a former USPTO Trademark Examining Attorney and an experienced trademark 

attorney, Respondent knew of the USPTO’s electronic signature rules. 

The USPTO Certification Rule 

48. The presentation to the USPTO (whether by signing, filing, submitting, or later 

advocating) of any document by any person, whether a practitioner or non-practitioner, constitutes 

a certification under 37 C.F.R. § 11.18(b).  37 C.F.R. § 2.193(f). 
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49. The person presenting the paper certifies, inter alia, that “[a]ll statements made

therein of the party’s own knowledge are true, all statements made therein on information and 

belief are believed to be true, and all statements made therein are made with the knowledge that 

whoever, in any matter within the jurisdiction of the Office, knowingly and willfully falsifies, 

conceals, or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact, or knowingly and willfully 

makes any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or representations, or knowingly and willfully 

makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or 

fraudulent statement or entry, shall be subject to the penalties set forth under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 

any other applicable criminal statute, and violations of the provisions of this section may 

jeopardize the probative value of the paper.”  37 C.F.R. § 11.18(b)(1).   

50. The party also certifies that, to the best of the party’s knowledge, information, and

belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, “[t]he allegations and other 

factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, are likely to have 

evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery.” 

37 C.F.R. § 11.18(b)(2)(iii). 

51. As a former USPTO Trademark Examining Attorney and an experienced trademark

attorney, Respondent knew of the USPTO’s certification rule. 

52. Respondent informed the Office of Enrollment and Discipline (“OED”) that, from

June 2010 until July 2013, he reviewed paper printouts of proposed trademark applications and 

other trademark documents (including declarations) prepared by his employees and reviewed, 

verified, and sometimes signed the applications or documents, before they were filed with the 

Office. 
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53. Respondent informed OED that, from June 2010 until July 2013, his employees

often signed or forged his electronic signature on trademark documents (including declarations) 

filed in TEAS; the actual signatory to the document was not identified. 

54. At least from July 1, 2013, to January 28, 2015, Respondent did not review any

trademark applications before they were filed with the Office. 

55. At least from July 1, 2013, to January 28, 2015, Respondent directed or allowed his

employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to trademark applications filed with the Office 

(including declarations); the actual signatory to the document was not identified. 

56. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the

following misconduct, before May 3, 2013: 

a. engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct by, inter alia: failing to comply
with the USPTO’s electronic signature rules by not personally electronically
signing trademark applications and trademark documents filed with the USPTO
and, instead, directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic
signature to the documents, which resulted in the validity of registered
trademarks being jeopardized, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the
USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility;

b. engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia:
(i) failing to comply with the USPTO’s electronic signature rules by not
personally electronically signing trademark applications and trademark
documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or allowing his
employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the documents, which
resulted in the validity of registered trademarks being jeopardized and/or (ii)
directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to
trademark applications and other trademark documents knowing that the actual
signatory, the employee, was not identified on the documents contrary to
Respondent’s certifications under § 11.18, in violation of
37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(5) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility;

c. handling a legal matter without preparation adequate under the circumstances
by, inter alia: failing to comply with the USPTO’s electronic signature rules by
not personally electronically signing trademark applications and trademark
documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or allowing his
employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the documents, which
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resulted in the validity of registered trademarks being jeopardized, in violation 
of 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(b) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

d. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation
by, inter alia: (i) not personally electronically signing trademark applications
and trademark documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or
allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the
documents,  thereby misleading the USPTO, his clients, and the public into
believing that Respondent had actually signed the trademark application or
trademark document; and/or (ii) not affirmatively informing the Trademark
Examining Attorney that the actual signatory, the employee, was not identified
on the document, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the USPTO Code
of Professional Responsibility;

e. violating the certifications made to the USPTO under 37 C.F.R. § 11.18 by,
inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic
signature to trademark applications and other trademark documents knowing
that the actual signatory, the employee, was not identified on the documents, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(15) of the USPTO Code
of Professional Responsibility;

f. intentionally or habitually violating any provision of the USPTO Code of
Professional Responsibility while appearing in a professional capacity before a
tribunal by, inter alia: failing to comply with the USPTO’s electronic signature
rules by not personally electronically signing trademark applications and
trademark documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or allowing
his employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the documents, which
resulted in the validity of registered trademarks being jeopardized, in violation
of 37 C.F.R. § 10.89(c)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility;
and/or

g. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s
fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in
Count II of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional
Responsibility.

57. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 

a. failing to provide competent representation by, inter alia: failing to comply with
the USPTO’s electronic signature rules by not personally electronically signing
trademark applications and trademark documents filed with the USPTO and,
instead, directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 23 of 136 PageID# 608

Appx387

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 146     Filed: 01/11/2017



15 

 

signature to the documents, which resulted in the validity of registered 
trademarks being jeopardized, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 of the USPTO 
Rules of Professional Conduct; 
 

b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation 
by, inter alia: (i) not personally electronically signing trademark applications 
and trademark documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or 
allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the 
documents,  thereby misleading the USPTO, his clients, and the public into 
believing that Respondent had actually signed the trademark application or 
trademark document; and/or (ii) not affirmatively informing the Trademark 
Examining Attorney that the actual signatory, the employee, was not identified 
on the document, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) of the USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct; 

 
c. engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia: 

(i) failing to comply with the USPTO’s electronic signature rules by not 
personally electronically signing trademark applications and trademark 
documents filed with the USPTO and, instead, directing or allowing his 
employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to the documents, which 
resulted in the validity of registered trademarks being jeopardized and/or (ii) 
directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his electronic signature to 
trademark applications and other trademark documents knowing that the actual 
signatory, the employee, was not identified on the documents contrary to 
Respondent’s certifications under § 11.18, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(d) 
of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; and/or 

 
d. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 

fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count II of the Complaint, to the extent that the conduct does not otherwise 
violation another provision of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(i) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct.  

 
COUNT III 

(Directing or allowing employees to sign or forge Respondent’s name to  
Section 2(f) declarations filed with the Office) 

 
58. Paragraphs 1-35 and 39-55 above are incorporated by reference. 

59. Two basic requirements for a trademark are that it must be used in commerce and 

be distinctive.  15 U.S.C. § 1127; 15 U.S.C. § 1052(d)-(f). 

60. A trademark includes any word, name, symbol, or device, or any combination 

thereof used by a person, or which a person has a bona fide intention to use, in commerce, to 
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identify and distinguish his or her goods, including a unique product, from those manufactured or 

sold by others and to indicate the source of the goods.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1127. 

61. Generally, the trademark applicant may file a “1(a)” application in which the

application is based on an existing “use in commerce.”  In a 1(a) application, the trademark 

applicant must verify that the mark is in use in commerce on (or in connection with) the goods or 

services listed in the application.  15 U.S.C. § 1051(a); 37 C.F.R. § 2.34(a)(1). 

62. The trademark applicant may also file a “1(b)” application in which the application

is based on an “intent to use.”  In a 1(b) application, the trademark applicant must verify that he or 

she has a bona fide intent to use the mark in commerce or in connection with the goods or services 

listed in the application.  15 U.S.C. § 1051(b); 37 C.F.R. § 2.34(a)(2).   

63. In order to be registered, a trademark must be distinctive.  15 U.S.C. § 1052(d)-(f).

64. “The [USPTO] Director may accept as prima facie evidence that the mark has

become distinctive, as used on or in connection with the applicant’s goods in commerce, proof of 

substantially exclusive and continuous use thereof as a mark by the applicant in commerce for the 

five years before the date on which the claim of distinctiveness is made.”  15 U.S.C. § 1052(f); 

37 C.F.R. § 2.41.  

65. The USPTO may accept as proof of acquired distinctiveness a declaration under

Section 2(f) of the Trademark Act averring five years of exclusive and continuous use of the mark.  

See TMEP § 1212.05. 

Section 2(f) declarations 

66. In order to fulfill his promise to applicants to file applications within 24 hours of

their online purchase, as set forth in his website, Respondent afforded himself only a very short 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 25 of 136 PageID# 610

Appx389

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 148     Filed: 01/11/2017



17 

 

period of time to personally prepare, verify, sign, and file § 2(f) declarations for those applications 

claiming that the mark had acquired distinctiveness. 

67. Section 2(f) declarations must aver that the signatory to the declaration has personal 

knowledge or a good faith belief about the factual assertions contained in the declaration.                  

37 C.F.R. § 2.41. 

68. At all relevant times, The Trademark Company’s website did not ask the client-

applicant to verify that their proposed mark qualifies as distinctive by being in substantially 

exclusive and continuous use for five years prior to filing the application, as required by                     

15 U.S.C. § 1052(f). 

69. Instead, The Trademark Company’s website only asked when the mark was first 

used in commerce.   

70. On information and belief, The Trademark Company sua sponte asserted § 2(f) 

status in certain applications.  

71. On information and belief, Respondent did not verify with the client-applicant the 

veracity of the § 2(f) declaration, namely that the mark was in substantially exclusive and 

continuous use in commerce for five years, before filing the § 2(f) declaration with the Office. 

A proper person must sign a § 2(f) declaration 

72. Section 2(f) declarations must be signed by a proper person.  See                                      

37 C.F.R. § 2.193(c).   

73. The proper person(s) to sign a trademark application and the accompanying 

declaration are: (i) a person with legal authority to bind the owner (e.g., a corporate officer or 

general partner of a partnership); (ii) a person with firsthand knowledge of the facts and actual or 

implied authority to act on behalf of the owner; or (iii) an attorney as defined in § 11.1 of this 
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chapter who has an actual written or verbal power of attorney or an implied power of attorney from 

the owner.  See 37 C.F.R. § 2.193(e)(1)(i)-(iii).  

74. When a document must be signed by someone with legal authority to bind a 

corporation, a corporate officer must sign.  An officer is a person who holds office established in 

the articles of incorporation or corporate bylaws.  TMEP § 611.06(d).  

75. When a person with firsthand knowledge of the facts must sign, that person must 

be able to set forth in the verified statement in a 1(a) application that, inter alia, “the mark is in 

use in commerce, that to the best of the declarant’s knowledge and belief, no other person has the 

right to use the mark in commerce….”  37 C.F.R. § 2.33(b)(1).   

76. A person may not give his/her “firsthand knowledge of the facts” to another; the 

person signing the verification in a trademark application must themselves have firsthand 

knowledge of the facts.  TMEP § 804.04; see also In re Cowan, 18 USPQ2d 1407, 1409 (Comm’r 

Pats. 1990).    

77. An individual signing a § 2(f) declaration who signs under the authority of having 

“firsthand knowledge of the facts and actual or implied authority to act on behalf of the owner” 

must have firsthand knowledge that the mark to be registered has been used in commerce for the 

last five years.  See 37 C.F.R. § 2.193(e)(1)(ii); 15 U.S.C. § 1052(2)(f).    

78. Even an attorney signing a § 2(f) verification must be able to attest to the fact that 

the mark has become distinctive as used on (or in connection with) the applicant’s goods in 

commerce and prove substantially exclusive and continuous use thereof as a mark by the applicant 

in commerce for the five years before the date on which the claim of distinctiveness is made.           

See 37 C.F.R. § 2.193(e)(1)(iii); 15 U.S.C. 1052(2)(f). 
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Improper § 2(f) declarations filed by Respondent 

79. Prior to July 1, 2013, Respondent directed or allowed his employees to prepare,

file, and sign or forge his electronic signature to an unknown number of § 2(f) declarations. 

80. Respondent directed or allowed his employees to prepare, file, and sign or forge his

electronic signature to at least 59 § 2(f) declarations between July 1, 2013, and January 28, 2015.  

A list of the 59 trademark applications in which such declarations are known to have been filed is 

attached as Exhibit A. 

81. In each of these 59 § 2(f) declarations, Respondent averred: “The mark has become

distinctive of the goods/services through the applicant’s substantially exclusive and continuous 

use in commerce that the U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the five years 

immediately before the date of this statement.”  

82. In each of these 59 § 2(f) declarations, Respondent’s electronic signature was

entered below the following statement: “The signatory being warned that willful false statements 

and the like are punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both, under 18 U.S.C. Section 1001, and 

that such willful false statements and the like may jeopardize the validity of the application 

or any registration resulting therefrom, declares that all statements made of his/her own 

knowledge are true and all statements made on information and belief are believed to be true.” 

(emphasis added). 

83. The representations in the 59 § 2(f) declarations referred to in Exhibit A were made

without knowing whether the representations were true or false. 

84. Respondent did not sign the 59 § 2(f) declarations and did not have personal

knowledge of the use of the marks for the requisite period of time in each of the applications. 
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85. Respondent’s employees signed or forged his electronic signature to the 59 § 2(f)

declarations which were filed with the Office. 

86. Respondent’s employees who signed or forged his electronic signature to the

declarations also did not have personal knowledge of the use of the marks for the requisite time 

period in each of the applications. 

87. The 59 § 2(f) declarations did not contain the name of the actual signatory to the

declaration, namely, an employee of The Trademark Company. 

88. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the

following misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013: 

a) engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct by, inter alia: directing or
allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to § 2(f) declarations and file
the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when (i) he knew that the Trademark
Examining Attorneys would rely on the declarations when examining
trademark applications and issuing registrations and when he knew or
reasonably should have known that the validity of the an applicants’
applications and registrations were jeopardized by the false and/or forged
declarations; and/or (ii) he knew or should have known his employees did not
have adequate knowledge to aver, “The mark has become distinctive of the
goods/services through the applicant's substantially exclusive and continuous
use in commerce that the U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the
five years immediately before the date of this statement;” in violation of
37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility;

b) engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation
by, inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to
§ 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when (i) he
knew that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would rely on the declarations
when examining trademark applications and issuing registrations, and/or (ii) he
knew or should have known his employees did not have adequate knowledge
to aver, “The mark has become distinctive of the goods/services through the
applicant's substantially exclusive and continuous use in commerce that the
U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the five years immediately
before the date of this statement;” in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the
USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility;

c) engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia:
directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to § 2(f)
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declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when (i) he knew 
that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would rely on the declarations when 
examining trademark applications and issuing registrations; and/or (ii) he knew 
or should have known his employees did not have adequate knowledge to aver, 
“The mark has become distinctive of the goods/services through the applicant's 
substantially exclusive and continuous use in commerce that the U.S. Congress 
may lawfully regulate for at least the five years immediately before the date of 
this statement;” and/or (iii) he knew that (a) the actual signatory, the employee,  
was not identified on the document and (b) the actual signatory, the employee, 
did not have the knowledge to support the factual contentions found in the 
declaration, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(5) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; 

 
d) knowingly giving false or misleading information or knowingly participating in 

a material way in giving false or misleading information to the USPTO or any 
employee of the USPTO by, inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to 
sign or forge his name to § 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with 
the Office, when (i) he knew that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would 
rely on the declarations when examining trademark applications and issuing 
registrations, and/or (ii) he knew or should have known his employees did not 
have adequate knowledge to aver, “The mark has become distinctive of the 
goods/services through the applicant's substantially exclusive and continuous 
use in commerce that the U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the 
five years immediately before the date of this statement;” and/or (iii) he knew 
that (a) the actual signatory, the employee,  was not identified on the document 
and (b) the actual signatory, the employee, did not have the knowledge to 
support the factual contentions found in the declaration, in violation of                 
37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(2)(ii) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; 

 
e) violating the certifications made to the USPTO under 37 C.F.R. § 11.18 by, 

inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to            
§ 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, knowing that 
(i) the actual signatory, the employee, was not identified on the document and 
(ii) the actual signatory, the employee, did not have the knowledge to support 
the factual contentions found in the declaration in violation of                                   
37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(15) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; 

 
f) intentionally or habitually violating any provision of the USPTO Code of 

Professional Responsibility while appearing in a professional capacity before a 
tribunal by, inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his 
name to § 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when 
(i) he knew that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would rely on the 
declarations when examining trademark applications and issuing registrations, 
and/or (ii) he knew or should have known his employees did not have adequate 
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knowledge to aver, “The mark has become distinctive of the goods/services 
through the applicant's substantially exclusive and continuous use in commerce 
that the U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the five years 
immediately before the date of this statement;” in violation of 
37 C.F.R. § 10.89(c)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 
and/or 

g) engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s
fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in
Count III of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional
Responsibility.

89. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 

a) failing to provide competent representation by, inter alia: directing or allowing
his employees to sign or forge his name to § 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f)
declarations with the Office, when (i) he knew that the Trademark Examining
Attorneys would rely on the declarations when examining trademark
applications and issuing registrations and when he knew or reasonably should
have known that the validity of the applicants’ applications and registrations
were jeopardized by the false declarations, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.101
of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct;

b) failing, in an ex parte proceeding, to inform the tribunal of all material facts
known to the practitioner that will enable the tribunal to make an informed
decision, even if the facts are adverse by, inter alia: directing or allowing his
employees to sign or forge his name to § 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f)
declarations with the Office, when (i) he knew that the Trademark Examining
Attorneys would rely on the declarations when examining trademark
applications and issuing registrations and/or (ii) he knew or should have known
his employees did not have adequate knowledge to aver, “The mark has become
distinctive of the goods/services through the applicant's substantially exclusive
and continuous use in commerce that the U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate
for at least the five years immediately before the date of this statement;” in
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.303(d) of the USPTO Rules of Professional
Conduct;

c) engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation
by, inter alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to
§ 2(f) declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when (i) he
knew that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would rely on the declarations
when examining trademark applications and issuing registrations, and/or (ii) he
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knew or should have known his employees did not have adequate knowledge 
to aver, “The mark has become distinctive of the goods/services through the 
applicant's substantially exclusive and continuous use in commerce that the 
U.S. Congress may lawfully regulate for at least the five years immediately 
before the date of this statement;” in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) of the 
USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 

d) engaging in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter
alia: directing or allowing his employees to sign or forge his name to § 2(f)
declarations and file the § 2(f) declarations with the Office, when (i) he knew
that the Trademark Examining Attorneys would rely on the declarations when
examining trademark applications and issuing registrations, and/or (ii) he knew
or should have known his employees did not have adequate knowledge to aver,
“The mark has become distinctive of the goods/services through the applicant's
substantially exclusive and continuous use in commerce that the U.S. Congress
may lawfully regulate for at least the five years immediately before the date of
this statement;” and/or (iii) he knew that (a) the actual signatory, the employee,
was not identified on the document and (b) the actual signatory, the employee,
did not have the knowledge to support the factual contentions found in the
declaration, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(d) of the USPTO Rules of
Professional Conduct; and/or

e) engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s
fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in
Count III of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise
violate a provision of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, in violation
of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(i) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct.

COUNT IV 
(Filing with the Office fraudulent or digitally altered specimens which did  

not reflect the mark’s use in commerce; failure to inform the Office or  
clients of false or fraudulent specimens; failure to remedy or offer restitution) 

90. Paragraphs 1-35, 39-55, and 59-87 above are incorporated by reference.

Employees of The Trademark Company created and filed false or fraudulent 
specimens  

91. In order to procure a trademark, the applicant must submit a specimen of how the

mark is actually used in commerce.  15 U.S.C. §§1051, 1127; 37 C.F.R. §§2.34(a)(1)(iv), 2.56(a); 

TMEP §§904, 904.07(a).   
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92. A trademark applicant commits fraud in procuring a registration if the applicant

makes material misrepresentations of fact in its declaration, including falsely representing that a 

submitted specimen is an example of how the mark is actually used in commerce if it is not.  See, 

e.g., Melodrama Publishing LLC v. Santiago, No. 12-7830, 2013 WL 1700929 at *5-6 (S.D.N.Y.

Apr. 11, 2013). 

93. A third party may successfully petition to cancel a registered trademark on the

ground that the registration was obtained fraudulently.  See 15 U.S.C. §1064(3); In re Bose, 580 

F.3d 1240, 1243 (Fed. Cir. 2009).

94. In U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/217,289 for the mark “RED ROCK

ROASTERS,” The Trademark Company filed the specimen depicted below with the Office on 

March 11, 2014.  In the declaration submitted with the specimen, which bore Respondent’s name 

and electronic signature but was not personally signed by him, this specimen was falsely 

represented by The Trademark Company to be the  mark as it was actually being used in 

commerce: 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 33 of 136 PageID# 618

Appx397

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 156     Filed: 01/11/2017



25 

95. On October 7, 2014, the USPTO issued Registration No. 4617357 for RED ROCK

ROASTERS based on the specimen submitted by The Trademark Company. 

96. The actual specimen of the mark as used in commerce, shown below, provided to

OED by the applicant, bears no resemblance to the specimen submitted by The Trademark 

Company: 

97. The applicant informed OED that the specimen filed by The Trademark Company

was not his mark. 

98. On information and belief, the false or fraudulent specimen submitted by The

Trademark Company was created by an employee of The Trademark Company. 

99. In U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/287,285 for the mark “SOUL INSIDE,” The

Trademark Company filed the following specimen with the USPTO on May 21, 2014: 
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100. During the course of its investigation, OED provided a copy of the SOUL INSIDE 

specimen to Respondent and asked him questions about it.   

101. Respondent admitted that the specimen filed by The Trademark Company in U.S. 

Trademark Application No. 86/287,285 for SOUL INSIDE was not an accurate depiction of the 

mark as it is actually used in commerce and, instead, had been created by one of his employees.   

102. Respondent asserted that during the initial review of the client’s application, The 

Trademark Company determined that the specimen submitted by the client did not depict a mark 

properly used in commerce, and, therefore, an employee of The Trademark Company had created 

a sample hangtag specimen allegedly to demonstrate to the client what a proper hangtag specimen 

should look like for the SOUL INSIDE mark.  According to Respondent, the employee allegedly 

intended to send the sample hangtag to the client.   

103. Respondent claimed that said this sample hangtag specimen for the SOUL INSIDE 

mark was somehow “inadvertently uploaded and filed with the USPTO.” 
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104. Notwithstanding Respondent’s claim of inadvertence, at least four other virtually 

identical hangtag specimens were submitted to the Office in the following trademark applications:   

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/082,632 for the mark “CAMO COMEDY,” 
submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on October 4, 2013;  
  

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/091,374 for the mark “SWANK LIFE,” 
submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on October 15, 2013;   

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/100,026 for the mark “GIRLS LOVE 

LEGGINGS,” submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on                    
October 24, 2013; and  

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/199,944 for the mark “FRESH LOCAL 

PRODUCT,” submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on                 
February 21, 2014.   

 
See Exhibit B attached. 

105. The specimens submitted in the applications listed in paragraph 104 all show what 

appears to be part of a short-sleeved shirt, a string, and a non-descript hangtag.  The string appears 

to be tucked into or underneath the hangtag and is not visibly affixed to the shirt or the hangtag.  

The hangtag appears to have been printed on a computer and cut to a smaller size (and not always 

in a perfectly square shape).  All of the specimens appear to be lying on the same desktop, which 

is gray surrounded by a light wooden border.   

106. On information and belief, all of the false or fraudulent specimens submitted by 

The Trademark Company in the applications identified in paragraph 104 were created by an 

employee or employees of The Trademark Company. 

107. Registrations issued on all the applications identified in paragraph 104 based on the 

false or fraudulent specimens submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company. 

108. At least two other specimens which appear to have been photographed on the same 

desk were filed with the Office by The Trademark Company. 
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109. The additional false or fraudulent specimens which appear to have been

photographed on the same desk were filed in the following trademark applications: 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/141,088 for the mark “THE NEW CHESSE
OF CAYAMBE ECUADOR,” submitted to the Office by The Trademark
Company on December 11, 2013; and

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/145,034 for the mark “BLOODPUNK,”
submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on May 15, 2014.3

See Exhibit C attached. 

110. On information and belief, the two false or fraudulent specimens submitted by The

Trademark Company in the applications identified in paragraph 109 were created by an employee 

or employees of The Trademark Company. 

111. A registration issued for the BLOODPUNK mark based on the false or fraudulent

substitute specimen submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company. 

112. At least six additional hangtag specimens filed by The Trademark Company

possess the telltale characteristics of the false or fraudulent SOUL INSIDE hangtag specimen 

known to have been created by Respondent’s employees, although not photographed on the same 

desk:   

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/325,801 for the mark “LIVE DEEP,” filed with
the USPTO by The Trademark Company on July 1, 2014;

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/097,637 for the mark “DO YOU STAY TRUE
LIFESTYLES,” filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on
May 13, 2014;

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/174,461 for a design mark filed with the
USPTO by The Trademark Company on May 16, 2014;

3 The May 15, 2014 specimen for the BLOODPUNK mark was a “substitute” specimen.  This 
means the Office rejected the initial specimen submitted and The Trademark Company submitted 
a replacement specimen.  
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 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/332,208 for the mark “MADE IN
AMEREEKA,” filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on
July 9, 2014;

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/286,040 for the mark “MY BLOCK MY
HOOD MY CITY,” filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on
May 20, 2014; and

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/333,454 for the mark “4061,” filed with the
USPTO by The Trademark Company on July 10, 2014.

See Exhibit D attached. 

113. On information and belief, all of the false or fraudulent specimens submitted by

The Trademark Company in the applications identified in paragraph 112 were created by 

employees of The Trademark Company.  

114. A trademark registration issued based on the false or fraudulent specimen for the

following marks identified in paragraph 112: LIVE DEEP, DO YOU STAY TRUE 

LIFESTYLES, a design mark in Application No. 86/174,461, and 4061. 

115. The Trademark Company also filed other apparently false or fraudulent substitute

specimens with the Office that were not hangtag specimens.  These include specimens filed in the 

following applications:  

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/032,298 for the mark “BANG UR HEAD,”
filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on December 11, 2013;

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/032,268 for the mark “NOCTURNAL
NONTYPICAL,” filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on
December 11, 2013;

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/036,370 for the mark “DON’T LET HIM LIVE
IN THE DARK,” filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on
December 11, 2013; and

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/072,750 for the mark “LIQUID SURFACES,”
filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on April 1, 2015.

See Exhibit E attached. 
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116. On information and belief, all of the false or fraudulent substitute specimens 

submitted by The Trademark Company in the applications identified in paragraph 115 were created 

by an employee or employees of The Trademark Company. 

117. Registrations issued on all the applications identified in paragraph 115 based on the 

false or fraudulent specimens submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company. 

118. On May 21, 2014, Respondent filed U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/287,301 

for a design mark for his client, Susan Teague.  Respondent submitted specimens of the mark 

supplied by Ms. Teague with the application. 

119. On September 15, 2014, the assigned Trademark Examining Attorney issued an 

Office Action refusing the registration, in part based on the specimens submitted. 

120. Neither Respondent nor anyone else from The Trademark Company contacted Ms. 

Teague regarding the Office Action. 

121. Ms. Teague did not supply any substitute specimens to The Trademark Company. 

122. The Trademark Company filed substitute specimens on January 12, 2015.  

123. On information and belief, the substitute specimens were created by an employee 

of The Trademark Company who visited Ms. Teague’s website and obtained screen shots that were 

then submitted to the Office.  

124. Another Office Action was issued on Ms. Teague’s application on                       

February 23, 2015, to which no response was filed.  As a result, the application has gone 

abandoned. 

125. A notice of abandonment was mailed to Respondent on September 28, 2015. 
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Employees of The Trademark Company created and filed digitally altered specimens 

126. U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/171,919 (the ‘919 application) for the mark 

“TREEFREE” was filed by The Trademark Company on January 22, 2014, along with the below 

specimen: 

 

 
 
 

127. After receiving an Office Action, The Trademark Company filed the below 

substitute specimen on May 15, 2014.  The “TREEFREE” mark on the top of the roll of toilet 

paper appears to be digitally superimposed4 on the image of the previously submitted specimen.   

 

                                                 

4 This is often referred to colloquially, but incorrectly, as “photoshopping” because of the 
widespread use of Adobe® Photoshop® photo-editing software. 
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128. The declaration accompanying the submission was electronically signed by 

Respondent and asserts, under penalty of fine or imprisonment or both under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, 

that he believed it to be a true mark as used in commerce. 

129. On information and belief, the specimen submitted by The Trademark Company 

was created by an employee of The Trademark Company. 

130. The ‘919 application claimed “The color(s) blue, green, yellow, white is/are 

claimed as a feature of the mark.”  The lettering on the side of the toilet paper label displays the 

mark with the word “TREE” in green and the word “FREE” in blue.  However, the digitally altered 

label on the top of the toilet paper roll shows the word “TREE” in blue and the word “FREE” in 

green. 

131. In a June 3, 2014 Office Action, registration was refused in the ‘919 application 

because “the specimen appears to be temporary in nature in that it seems to be a digital 

representation of how the mark would appear on the goods and, as such, does not show actual use 

of the applied-for mark in commerce.” 
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132. On June 27, 2014, The Trademark Company responded to the June 3, 2014 Office 

Action by filing a Request for Reconsideration that included the following substitute specimen: 

 

133. The above specimen was submitted to the USPTO by The Trademark Company 

under Respondent’s electronic signature and a declaration asserting the authenticity of the 

specimen, i.e., that it accurately depicted the mark as used in commerce. 

134. The above specimen does not appear to depict the use of the mark on goods in 

commerce.  Instead, it seems to be no more than a scrap of paper taped to a piece of cardboard.  

As a former USPTO Trademark Examining Attorney and an experienced trademark attorney, 

Respondent reasonably should have recognized that the above specimen was inadequate.   

135. On August 5, 2014, the Office denied The Trademark Company’s Request for 

Reconsideration in the ‘919 application. 

136. On August 13, 2014, The Trademark Company responded to the August 5, 2014 

denial by filing another Request for Reconsideration that included the following substitute 

specimen, again with a declaration containing Mr. Swyers’ electronic signature and asserting, 
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under penalty of fine or imprisonment or both under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, it was believed to be a true 

mark: 

 

137. The August 13, 2014 specimen appears to be no more than the drawing of the 

TREEFREE mark taped to a plastic package of toilet paper bearing no resemblance to the first 

specimen filed with the USPTO. 

138. On information and belief, the specimen submitted by The Trademark Company 

was created by an employee of The Trademark Company. 

139. On September 15, 2014, after receiving and reviewing the August 13, 2014 Request 

for Reconsideration and substitute specimen, the Office denied The Trademark Company’s second 

request for reconsideration.  The Office stated: “PLEASE NOTE – Over the years, the attorney 

of record has a pattern of filing specimens of a dubious nature, which do not seem to reflect how 

the mark is used on actual packaging.  The attorney of record is advised that the Office has taken 

note of this pattern, and encourages the attorney to file specimens that reflect the true market reality 

of the packaging.”  (emphasis in original) 
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140. The Trademark Company submitted a fourth incorrect specimen in the ‘919 

application, which was also rejected by the Office. 

141. On October 30, 2014, The Trademark Company proposed to amend the mark and 

not claim color as a feature of the mark.  The Trademark Company submitted an amended drawing 

that is black, gray, and white (not green and blue).  With this amendment, USPTO registered the 

mark on April 21, 2015. 

142. Other specimens, which also appear to have been digitally altered, were submitted 

to the Office by The Trademark Company in the following trademark applications:  

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 85/849,588 for the mark “SHE’S A 10! WEAR,” 
filed on February 19, 2014;  
 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/176,924 for the mark “WHAT’S IN YOUR 
GENES,” filed on January 28, 2014;  

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/176,944 for the mark “WHAT’S IN MY 

GENES,” filed on January 28, 2014;  
 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/180,380 for the mark “LIFE CYCLE,” 
specimens filed on July 9, 2014; 

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/219,272 for the mark “HEALTH 

CIRCULATOR,” specimens filed on March 12, 2014 and July 10, 2014; 
 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/226,090 for the mark “VAN DER HAGEN,” 
filed on March 19, 2014; 

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/240,315 for the mark “OSPREY POWER 

PLATFORM,” filed on April 2, 2014; 
 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/273,334 for the mark “STEM ENHANCER 
BIOXCELL,” filed on May 6, 2014; 

 
 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/303,859 for the mark “AMERICAN CRANES 

& TRANSPORT AC&T,” filed on June 9, 2014;  
 

 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/303,783 for the mark “ACCESS, LIFT & 
HANDLERS ALH,” filed on June 9, 2014; and 
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 U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/223,316 for the mark “TEAM NETWORK 
SOLUTIONS TRAINING EVENTS MARKETING,” filed on March 17, 2014. 
  

See Exhibit F attached. 

143. On information and belief, all of the specimens submitted by The Trademark 

Company in the applications identified in paragraph 142 were digitally manipulated by an 

employee or employees of The Trademark Company. 

144. A trademark registration issued based on the fraudulent specimen for the following 

marks identified in paragraph 142:  SHE’S A 10 WEAR, WHAT’S IN YOUR GENES, WHAT’S 

IN MY GENES, LIFE CYCLE, HEALTH CIRCULATOR, VAN DER HAGEN, and OSPREY 

POWER PLATFORM. 

Respondent failed to inform the Office or clients of the filing of false or fraudulent 
specimens  
 
145. Respondent either never reviewed the filings submitted by his employees or his 

review was so superficial, careless, or perfunctory as not to constitute an inquiry consistent with 

37 C.F.R. § 11.18. 

146. When OED notified Respondent of these false or fraudulent and digitally altered 

specimens, Respondent indicated in his response to OED’s Fourth RFI, dated June 18, 2010, that 

“any error that may have been uncovered by OED that could impair [my] clients’ respective rights 

will be addressed and remedied as soon as possible.”  
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147. As of the date of the filing of this Complaint, Respondent has not notified the Office 

that he submitted a specimen which did not reflect the mark as actually used in commerce in any 

of the applications identified in paragraphs 104, 109, 112, 115, and 142, above.5  

148. On information and belief, as of the date of the filing of this Complaint, Respondent 

has not notified his clients that he submitted a specimen which did not reflect the mark as actually 

used in commerce in any of the applications identified in paragraphs 104, 109, 112, 115, and 142, 

above. 

149. On information and belief, as of the date of the filing of this Complaint, Respondent 

has not taken any remedial action and/or offered or provided restitution to any client for whom he 

submitted a specimen which did not reflect the mark as actually used in commerce in any of the 

applications identified in paragraphs 104, 109, 112, 115, and 142, above. 

150. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013: 

  

                                                 

5 After OED questioned Respondent about the false or fraudulent hangtag specimen filed in the 
SOUL INSIDE application, he represented to OED that corrective action would be timely taken.  
But he did not file the amendment for over six months and, in the interim, the agency registered 
the mark on December 30, 2014, based on a specimen that Respondent knew to be fraudulent 
(Registration No. 4663507). Upon notification of the registration, Respondent continued to fail to 
file documents to cancel or surrender the improper registration.  It was not until on April 29, 2015, 
that Mr. Swyers filed a duplicate application for SOUL INSIDE, namely: U.S. Trademark 
Application No. 86/614,156, but he did not cancel Registration No. 4663507.  On August 13, 2015, 
the assigned Trademark Examining Attorney issued an Office Action noting, in part, “Registration 
is refused because this application appears to be an exact duplicate of U.S. Registration No. 
4663507.”  Respondent filed a response to the Office Action on February 15, 2016, indicating an 
intent to voluntarily surrender Registration No. 4663507, but he has not done so as of the date of 
the filing of this Complaint.  Respondent did not inform the agency of the false or fraudulent 
specimen and the fraudulent declaration that was filed in Application No. 86/287,285. 
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a) engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct by, inter alia: (i) failing to 
adequately supervise his employees or adequately review their work, thus 
permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or digitally altered 
images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in commerce and 
file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in some cases, the USPTO 
issued trademark registrations based on the false or fraudulent specimens or 
digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the resulting trademarks in 
jeopardy, (ii) failing to inform his clients that their trademark registrations or 
applications were potentially invalid and/or take timely and effective remedial 
action on their behalf and/or offer or provide restitution to them, and/or (iii) 
failing to inform the USPTO of the potentially invalid applications and/or 
registrations that resulted from the filing of false or fraudulent specimens or 
digitally altered marks, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the USPTO Code 
of Professional Responsibility; 

 

b) engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation 
by, inter alia: (i) failing to adequately supervise his employees or adequately 
review their work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens 
and/or digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as 
used in commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in 
some cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the 
resulting trademarks in jeopardy, (ii) failing to inform his clients that their 
trademark registrations or applications were potentially invalid and/or take 
timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or offer or provide 
restitution to them, and/or (iii) failing to inform the USPTO of the potentially 
invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted from the filing of false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of                                 
37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
c) engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia:  

(i) failing to adequately supervise his employees or adequately review their 
work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or 
digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in 
commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in some 
cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the 
resulting trademarks in jeopardy, and/or (ii) failing to inform the USPTO of the 
potentially invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted from the filing 
of false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of          
37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(5) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
d) violating the certifications made to the USPTO under 37 C.F.R. § 11.18 by, 

inter alia, failing to adequately supervise his employees or adequately review 
their work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or 
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digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in 
commerce and file these specimens with the Office, in violation of                        
37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(15) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; 

 
e) neglecting client matters by, inter alia: (i) failing to adequately supervise his 

employees or adequately review their work, thus permitting them to create false 
or fraudulent specimens and/or digitally altered images of marks that did not 
depict the actual mark as used in commerce and file these specimens with the 
Office, and as a result, in some cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations 
based on the false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting 
the validity of the resulting trademarks in jeopardy, and/or (ii) failing to inform 
his clients that their trademark registrations or applications were potentially 
invalid and/or take timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or 
offer or provide restitution to them, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) of the 
USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
f) intentionally failing to seek the lawful objectives of a client through reasonably 

available means permitted by law by, inter alia: intentionally failing to inform 
his clients that their trademark registrations or applications were potentially 
invalid and/or take timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or 
offer or provide restitution to them, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(1) of 
the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
g) intentionally prejudicing or damaging the client during the course of a 

professional relationship by, inter alia: intentionally failing to inform his clients 
that their trademark registrations or applications were potentially invalid and/or 
take timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or offer or provide 
restitution to them, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(3) of the USPTO Code 
of Professional Responsibility; 

 
h) intentionally or habitually violating any provision of the USPTO Code of 

Professional Responsibility while appearing in a professional capacity before a 
tribunal by, inter alia: (i) failing to adequately supervise his employees or 
adequately review their work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent 
specimens and/or digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual 
mark as used in commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a 
result, in some cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the 
false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of 
the resulting trademarks in jeopardy, and/or (ii) failing to inform the USPTO of 
the potentially invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted from the 
filing of false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of 
37 C.F.R. § 10.89(c)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 
and/or 
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i) engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 
fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count IV of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise 
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility. 

 
151. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 

a) failing to provide competent representation by, inter alia: (i) failing to 
adequately supervise his employees or adequately review their work, thus 
permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or digitally altered 
images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in commerce and 
file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in some cases, the USPTO 
issued trademark registrations based on the false or fraudulent specimens or 
digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the resulting trademarks in 
jeopardy, and/or (ii) failing to inform his clients that their trademark 
registrations or applications were potentially invalid and/or take timely and 
effective remedial action on their behalf and/or offer or provide restitution to 
them, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 of the USPTO Rules of Professional 
Conduct; 
 

b) failing to keep his client reasonably informed by, inter alia: (i) not informing 
Ms. Teague of the Office Action received on her behalf in U.S. Trademark 
Application No. 86/287,301 and by not informing her that he had filed 
substitute specimens without confirming with her whether the substitute 
specimens depicted her mark as used in commerce, and/or (ii) failing to inform 
his clients that their trademark registrations or applications were potentially 
invalid and/or take timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or 
offer or provide restitution to them, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.104(a) of the 
USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 
 

c) knowingly making a false statement of fact to a tribunal or failing to correct a 
false statement of material fact previously made to the tribunal by the 
practitioner by, inter alia: failing to inform the USPTO of the potentially invalid 
applications and/or registrations that resulted from the filing of false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of                                 
37 C.F.R. § 11.303(a)(1) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 

 
d) failing, in an ex parte proceeding, to inform the tribunal of all material facts 

known to the practitioner that will enable the tribunal to make an informed 
decision, even if the facts are adverse, by, inter alia, failing to inform the 
USPTO of the potentially invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted 
from the filing of false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in 
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violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.303(d) of the USPTO Rules of Professional 
Conduct; 

 
e) failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that The Trademark Company had 

in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that its employees’ conduct was 
compatible with Respondent’s professional obligations, as is required by him 
as a partner or a person of comparable managerial authority of The Trademark 
Company by, inter alia: failing to adequately supervise his employees or 
adequately review their work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent 
specimens and/or digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual 
mark as used in commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a 
result, in some cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the 
false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of 
the resulting trademarks in jeopardy, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.503(a) of 
the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 

 
f) failing to make reasonable efforts to ensure that the conduct of The Trademark 

Company employees over whom he had direct supervisory authority was 
compatible with Respondent’s professional obligations by, inter alia: failing to 
adequately supervise his employees or adequately review their work, thus 
permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or digitally altered 
images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in commerce and 
file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in some cases, the USPTO 
issued trademark registrations based on the false or fraudulent specimens or 
digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the resulting trademarks in 
jeopardy, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.503(b) of the USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct; 

 
g) ordering or ratifying the conduct of the employees of The Trademark Company 

which would have been a violation of the USPTO Rules of Professional 
Conduct had it been committed by a practitioner, and/or failing to take remedial 
measures once he learned of the conduct by, inter alia: (i) failing to adequately 
supervise his employees or adequately review their work, thus permitting them 
to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or digitally altered images of marks 
that did not depict the actual mark as used in commerce and file these specimens 
with the Office, and as a result, in some cases, the USPTO issued trademark 
registrations based on the false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered 
marks, putting the validity of the resulting trademarks in jeopardy, (ii) failing 
to inform his clients that their trademark registrations or applications were 
potentially invalid and/or take timely and effective remedial action on their 
behalf and/or offer or provide restitution to them, and/or (iii) failing to inform 
the USPTO of the potentially  invalid applications and/or registrations that 
resulted from the filing of false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered 
marks, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.503(c) of the USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct; 
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h) engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, 
by, inter alia: (i) failing to adequately supervise his employees or adequately 
review their work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens 
and/or digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as 
used in commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in 
some cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the 
resulting trademarks in jeopardy, (ii) failing to inform his clients that their 
trademark registrations or applications were potentially invalid and/or take 
timely and effective remedial action on their behalf and/or offer or provide 
restitution to them, and/or (iii) failing to inform the USPTO of the potentially 
invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted from the filing of false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of                                
37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 

 
i) engaging in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter 

alia: (i) failing to adequately supervise his employees or adequately review their 
work, thus permitting them to create false or fraudulent specimens and/or 
digitally altered images of marks that did not depict the actual mark as used in 
commerce and file these specimens with the Office, and as a result, in some 
cases, the USPTO issued trademark registrations based on the false or 
fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, putting the validity of the 
resulting trademarks in jeopardy, and/or (ii) failing to inform the USPTO of the 
potentially invalid applications and/or registrations that resulted from the filing 
of false or fraudulent specimens or digitally altered marks, in violation of           
37 C.F.R. § 11.804(d) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; and/or 

 
j) engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 

fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count IV of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise 
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(i) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct. 

 
COUNT V 

(Misrepresentations on website that a lawyer would prepare and review 
documents; collecting fees for trademark work done by non-lawyers when 

representing to clients that a lawyer would do the work) 
 

152. Paragraphs 1-35, 39-55, 59-87, and 91-149 above are incorporated by reference. 
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The Trademark Company website 

153. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent marketed his trademark practice 

over the internet on The Trademark Company’s website (www.thetrademarkcompany.com) and 

through direct telephone solicitations of potential clients. 

154. When hiring The Trademark Company to perform trademark legal services, nearly 

all of Respondent’s thousands of trademark applicant clients fill out an online order form. 

155. The Trademark Company’s website advertised that one of its advantages over its 

competitors was that trademark applications are always prepared by a “specialized attorney.” 

156. Thousands of trademark applications filed by The Trademark Company from at 

least July 1, 2013 to January 28, 2015, were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to filing 

with the Office. 

157. The website also stated that all information submitted to the USPTO was reviewed 

to ensure that it was complete and error-free.   

158. No attorney reviewed every trademark application, response to Office Action, or 

other trademark document before they were filed with the Office and/or no attorney adequately 

reviewed the documents to ensure that they were complete and error-free.   

159. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013: 

a. engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct by, inter alia: (i) not informing 
clients who purchased trademark legal services from The Trademark Company 
that their applications and other trademark documents were not prepared or 
reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed with the Office; and/or                       
(ii) collecting fees from clients for trademark legal services that were supposed 
to be performed by an attorney when their applications and other trademark 
documents were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed 
with the Office, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; 
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b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation 
by, inter alia: (i) not informing clients who purchased trademark legal services 
from The Trademark Company that their applications and other trademark 
documents were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed 
with the Office; and/or (ii) collecting fees from clients for trademark legal 
services that were supposed to be performed by an attorney when their 
applications and other trademark documents were not prepared or reviewed by 
an attorney prior to being filed with the Office, in violation of                                    
37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

 
c. deceiving or misleading prospective applicants or other persons having 

immediate or prospective business before the Office by word, circular, letter, or 
advertising with respect to prospective business before the Office by, inter alia:  
advertising on The Trademark Company’s website that trademark applications 
would be prepared by an attorney when Respondent knew that trademark 
applications were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed 
with the USPTO, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.31(a) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; and/or 

 
d. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 

fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count V of the Complaint to the extent that his conduct does not otherwise 
violate a provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility. 

 
160. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 

a. making false or misleading communications about the practitioner or the 
practitioner’s services by, inter alia: advertising on The Trademark Company’s 
website that trademark applications would be prepared by an attorney when 
Respondent knew that trademark applications were not prepared or reviewed 
by an attorney prior to being filed with the USPTO, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 
11.701 of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; 

 
b. engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation 

by, inter alia: (i) not informing clients who purchased trademark legal services 
from The Trademark Company that their applications and other trademark 
documents were not prepared or reviewed by an attorney prior to being filed 
with the Office; and/or (ii) collecting fees from clients for trademark legal 
services that were supposed to be performed by an attorney when their 
applications and other trademark documents were not prepared or reviewed by 
an attorney prior to being filed with the Office, in violation of                                   
37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; and/or 
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c. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s 

fitness to practice before the Office, by engaging in the conduct referenced in 
Count V of the Complaint, to the extent that the conduct does not otherwise 
violation another provision of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(i) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct. 

  
COUNT VI 

(Failure to deposit client funds paid in advance into a client trust account) 
 

161. Paragraphs 1-35, 39-55, 59-87, 91-149, and 153-158 above are incorporated by 

reference. 

162. Trademark applicants purchasing services through The Trademark Company 

website are offered a variety of “packages.”  Some of these packages involve simply preparing 

and filing a trademark application, others include performing research regarding the proposed 

trademark and generating a search report, filing responses to Office Actions, or providing other 

trademark legal services, such as appeals before the TTAB. 

163. The Trademark Company website advertised as one of its advantages that 

trademark applications would be filed with the USPTO within one business day of receipt of an 

online order (the “24-hour rule”).   

164. Other services purchased could not be completed within 24 hours.  For example, 

when a client paid for a response to Office Action, those legal services would not be rendered until 

after the trademark application had been filed and examined by a USPTO Trademark Examining 

Attorney.  

165. For online purchases, The Trademark Company’s website required trademark 

applicants to pay for the package they selected in advance by credit card. 
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166. For online purchases, Respondent’s attorney fees and USPTO filing fees were 

required to be paid by credit card at the same time the client submitted information concerning his 

or her trademark to The Trademark Company for the preparing and filing of an application. 

167. Accordingly, all attorney fees and USPTO filing fees for legal services purchased 

online were paid in advance.  

168. Respondent deposited all fees paid to him and The Trademark Company in advance 

for legal services and costs into his business operating account, not a client trust account. 

169. Respondent did not use a client trust account in connection with legal services 

provided by and through The Trademark Company. 

170. Upon information and belief, Respondent failed to deposit millions of dollars into 

a client trust account as required by USPTO ethics rules.6  

171. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013:  

failing to deposit legal fees paid in advance into a separate client trust account by 
depositing them instead into The Trademark Company’s operating account, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(a) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility. 
 

172. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013:  

a. failing to hold property of a client or third person that is in the lawyer's 
possession in connection with a representation separate from the lawyer's own 
property, by depositing fees paid in advance by clients for trademark legal 
services and costs into his operating account, in violation of                                       
37 C.F.R. § 11.115(a) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct; and/or  
 
 
 

                                                 

6 A conservative estimate of the fees collected during the relevant period is $3,500,000 (17,500 
applications at $200 per application). 
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b. failing to deposit into a client trust account legal fees and expenses that have 

been paid in advance, to be withdrawn by the practitioner only as fees are earned 
or expenses incurred, by depositing fees paid in advance by clients for 
trademark legal services and costs into his operating account, in violation of                                   
37 C.F.R. § 11.115(c) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct. 

 
COUNT VII 

(Impermissibly sharing legal fees with non-practitioners) 
 
173. Paragraphs 1-35, 39-55, 59-87, 91-149, 153-158, and 162-170 above are 

incorporated by reference. 

174. Respondent paid certain of his employees (the Research and Application 

Specialists) “a monthly profit share based upon the proceeds corresponding to services provided 

to clients with whom they interacted provided out of profits earned by the firm for that month.” 

175. Research and Application Specialists employed by The Trademark Company were 

paid a base salary plus commission.  The “commission” was based on the value of the sales made 

by the employee. 

176. Other employees received discretionary quarterly bonuses.   

177. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, prior to May 3, 2013:  

sharing legal fees with a non-practitioner by paying employees non-discretionary 
monthly bonuses tied to the proceeds generated by the trademark legal services 
provided to applicants with whom they interacted, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.48 
of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility. 
 

178. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, after May 3, 2013:  

sharing legal fees with a non-practitioner by paying employees non-discretionary 
monthly bonuses tied to the proceeds generated by the trademark legal services 
provided to applicants with whom they interacted, in violation of                                     
37 C.F.R. § 11.504(a) of the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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COUNT VIII 
(witness tampering; failure to respond to lawful requests for information  

or cooperate with OED) 
 
179. Paragraphs 1-35, 39-55, 59-87, 91-149, 153-158, 162-170, and 174-176 above are 

incorporated by reference. 

180. A practitioner has an ethical duty to cooperate with OED and respond to its lawful 

requests for information. 37 C.F.R. § 11.801(b). 

Witness tampering 

181. On December 22, 2014, after complying with 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f), OED spoke 

with Jason Hartman, a trademark applicant, about a hangtag specimen filed by The Trademark 

Company in his trademark application, U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/091,374 for the mark 

“SWANK LIFE.” (See Count IV).   

182. Mr. Hartman stated that the specimen filed by The Trademark Company on his 

behalf in connection with his trademark application was not genuine, that is, it was not a picture 

of his company’s actual mark as used in commerce. 

183. Mr. Hartman advised OED that Respondent had telephoned him and told him not 

to speak with OED. 

184. Respondent also spoke with several other trademark applicants who had used The 

Trademark Company and told them that any discussion with OED could potentially affect their 

trademark rights. 

185. Respondent’s statement that talking with OED could potentially affect a trademark 

applicant’s trademark rights was false or misleading. 
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186. Trademark applications and registrations predicated on fabricated specimens or 

defective declarations may be at risk of invalidation, but OED investigations do not alter trademark 

legal rights. 

Failing to produce requested documents—Invoices  

187. On June 29, 2015, OED sent a Fifth RFI to Respondent and asked him to provide 

copies of invoices sent by The Trademark Company to clients for 38 trademark applications that 

appeared to involve either a false or fraudulent specimen or an improper § 2(f) declaration.  

Respondent was also asked to produce a privilege log if he withheld documents based on privilege. 

188. Respondent had previously provided invoices to OED without objection in 

response to OED’s First RFI. 

189. The OED request was lawful pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f)(1)(ii). 

190. Copies of the invoices would reveal the identity of the particular employee who 

worked on each of the trademark applications and who would therefore have knowledge regarding 

the specimens and the § 2(f) declarations filed by The Trademark Company.  The invoices also 

could contain information regarding Respondent’s failure to deposit fees paid in advance into a 

client trust account. 

191. On November 6, 2015 ––after being granted extensions of time–– Respondent 

informed OED that he objected to producing the documents and did not provide them. 

192. Respondent asserted several objections that lacked merit, including that the 

invoices were protected by the attorney-client privilege, attorney work product doctrine, and that 

they constituted “confidential business information.”  Moreover, despite withholding the requested 

documents, Respondent did not provide a privilege log. 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 58 of 136 PageID# 643

Appx422

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 181     Filed: 01/11/2017



50 

 

193. On November 16, 2015, OED sent a Notice of Lack of Response letter to 

Respondent that provided a thorough written explanation why the OED Director reasonably 

believed that Respondent’s objections lacked merit.   

194. Respondent never provided OED with the requested documents. 

Failing to produce requested documents—Employment Agreements 
 

195. On May 18, 2015, in its Fourth RFI, OED asked Respondent to provide the 

employment agreements for his 29 current and former employees. 

196. The OED request was lawful pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f)(1)(ii). 

197. The employment agreements would provide evidence about whether Respondent 

impermissibly shared legal fees with non-practitioners. 

198. In a response to the Fourth RFI dated June 18, 2015, Respondent refused to provide 

the agreements.    

199. OED sent Respondent a Notice of Lack of Response letter on June 29, 2015, noting 

Respondent’s failure to provide the employment agreements and again requesting that he produce 

them. 

200. Several months later, on November 6, 2015, Respondent produced a few of the 

requested employment agreements.  Notably, he withheld the agreements of longstanding 

employees of The Trademark Company, including Jessica Reynolds and Paul Szulak.   

201. On November 16, 2015, OED sent a letter to Respondent expressly identifying his 

lack of completeness and again requesting that Respondent produce the employment agreements 

for all current employees. 

202. Respondent never provided OED with all the requested employment agreements. 
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Failing to produce requested documents—Supporting § 2(f) declarations 
 

203. On May 18, 2015, in its Fourth RFI, OED asked Respondent to provide copies of 

documents that supported the filing of applications claiming § 2(f) declarations of acquired 

distinctiveness. 

204. The OED request was lawful pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f)(1)(ii). 

205. The documents would provide evidence regarding the accuracy of the applications 

filed and the veracity of the declarations filed with the Office. 

206. In a response dated June 18, 2015, Respondent did not produce the requested 

documents.   

207. OED sent Respondent a Notice of Lack of Response letter on June 29, 2015, noting 

Respondent’s failure to provide the requested documents and again requesting that he produce 

them. 

208. In a response dated November 6, 2015, Respondent stated the documents were 

being produced, but no such documents were actually attached to the response.   

209. On November 16, 2015, OED sent Respondent another Notice of Lack of Response 

letter, noting Respondent’s failure to produce the documents, despite his November 6, 2015 

response which stated they were attached, and again requesting that he produce them. 

210. Respondent never provided OED with the requested documents. 

Failing to produce requested documents—Privilege Log 

211. OED’s May 18, 2015 Fourth RFI instructed Respondent that if information or 

documents were withheld on the basis of privilege, he was to (a) provide a copy of the document 

with only the purported privileged components of the document redacted, (b) state the privilege 

being asserted, and (c) state the factual and legal basis for the privilege.  
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212.  The May 18, 2015 letter also instructed Respondent that if the entire document was 

withheld on the basis of privilege, he was to provide a privilege log that stated the document type, 

the date of the document, the author of the document, the privilege(s) being asserted, and the 

factual and legal basis for the withholding the document. 

213. OED’s request was lawful pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(f)(1)(ii). 

214. OED was seeking information to determine whether Respondent engaged in ethical 

misconduct and requested a multitude of records relevant to that investigation.  Because OED does 

not have subpoena power, it must request records from the practitioner. 

215. Respondent asserted various privileges to excuse his non-production of many 

records.  OED was entitled to a privilege log in order to determine if the privilege claimed was 

actually applicable to the documents withheld.  

216. Respondent’s June 18, 2015 response did not include a privilege log with respect 

to any of the documents withheld. 

217. In its June 29, 2015 Notice of Lack of Response letter, OED repeatedly informed 

Respondent of his obligation to provide the privilege log with respect to each category of 

documents withheld. 

218. Respondent filed responses to the Fourth and Fifth RFIs on November 6, 2015, but 

he did not provide a privilege log for the withheld documents. 

219. In its November 16, 2015, Notice of Lack of Response letter, OED again informed 

Respondent of his obligation to provide a privilege log. 

220. Respondent never provided OED with the requested privilege log. 

221. At no time during OED’s investigation did Respondent seek the OED Director’s 

review under 37 C.F.R. § 11.2 of any OED employee’s actions. 
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222. By reason of the conduct described above, the Respondent has engaged in the 

following misconduct, on or after May 3, 2013: 

a) engaging in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice by, inter alia: 
(i) telling a witness not to talk to OED; (ii) falsely telling potential witnesses 
that talking to OED could affect their trademark rights; (iii) withholding the 
names of former employees for months; and/or (iv) not providing OED with the 
documents it sought (invoices, employment agreements, correspondence about 
§ 2(±) declarations, and/or a privilege log), in violation of3 7 C.F .R. § 11.804( d); 

b) failing to respond to lawful requests for information and failing to cooperate 
with OED by inter alia: (i) telling a witness not to talk to OED; (ii) falsely 
telling potential witnesses that talking to OED could affect their trademark 
rights; (iii) withholding the names of former employees for months; and/or (iv) 
not providing OED with the documents it sought (invoices, employment 
agreements, correspondence about § 2(±) declarations, and/or a privilege log), 
in violation of 37 C.F.R. § l l.80l(b); 

c) engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation 
by, inter alia, falsely telling potential witnesses that talking to OED could affect 
theirtrademarkrights, in violationof37 C.F.R. § ll .804(c); and/or 

d) other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness to practice 
before the Office, by engaging in the acts and omissions described in Count 
VIII above, in violation of 3 7 C.F.R. § l 1.804(i) . 

Request for Relief 

WHEREFORE, for the facts and reasons stated herein, the OED Director requests entry of 

an Order (1) excluding or suspending Respondent from practice before the USPTO in patent, 
. . 

trademark, and other non-patent matters, and (2) such additional relief as this Tribunal deems 

reasonable and warranted. 

March lJ, 2016 

Deputy General Counsel for Enrollment and Discipline and 
Director of the Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
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NOTICE OF CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESSES 

Respondent must file an answer to the Complaint in writing with the Administrative Law 
Judge within thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this Complaint. Respondent may elect 
to file his written answer to the Complaint in any one of four ways: 

1. By U.S. Postal Service, via mail to the following address: 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Office of Administrative Law Judges 
Mailcode l 900R 
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 
Washington, DC 20460 

2. By courier service (e.g., UPS, FedEx, DHL) or hand delivery via delivery to: 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Office of Administrative Law Judges 
Ronald Reagan Building, Room Ml200 
1300 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 
Washington, D.C. 20460 

3. By facsimile transmission to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Office 
of Administrative Law Judges at (202) 565-0044. 

4. By electronically filing via email (attaching the answer in portable document format 
("PDF") format) to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Office of Administrative Law 
Judges at OALJfiling@epa.gov. The subject line of the email shall include the name and docket 
number of the proceeding. Documents filed as email attachments must be signed and contain the 
contact name, phone number, mailing address, and email address of the filing party or its 
authorized representative. Electronic files exceeding 50 MB must be separated into files under 50 
MB each or submitted on a compact disk ("CD") by mail, courier, or personal delivery. 

Respondent must also serve a copy of the answer on the OED Director who is represented 
by Associate Solicitor Elizabeth Ullmer Mendel (elizabeth.mendell@uspto.gov) and Associate 
Solicitor Melinda M. DeAtley (melinda.deatley@uspto.gov). A copy of the answer shall be served 
on the OED Director in any one of four ways: 

1. By U.S. Postal Service, via mail to the following address: 

Mail Stop 8 
Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450 
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2. By courier service (e.g., UPS, FedEx, DHL) or hand delivery, via delivery to: 

USPTO - Office of the Solicitor 
600 Dulany Street- Madison Building West 
Eighth Floor, 8A51 
Alexandria, VA 22314 

3. By facsimile transmission to: (571) 273-8486; or 

4. By electronically filing via email, and attaching the answer in PDF format, to the 
email addresses of the two associate solicitors named above and to: PTO-OEDcases@uspto.gov. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing COMPLAINT AND NOTICE OF 
PROCEEDING UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 32 and NOTICE OF CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESSES 
was mailed this day via certified mail to Respondent's counsel, pursuant to 37 C.F.R § l l .35(c), 
at: 

Mr. Danny M. Howell 
Sands Anderson PC 
1497 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 202 
McLean, VA 22101 

and via email to: dhowell@sandsanderson.com 

March fJ, 2016 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 
Mail Stop 8 
Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450 
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EXHIBIT A 
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59 § 2(f) Declarations Filed by The Trademark Company 

. . Application Serial 
. Nurnber 

Mark 
. 

1. 86301365 THE GARAGE STORE 

2. 86246897 UNITED STATES JU-JITSU 

3. 86481672 FLOWER CRAFTS 

4. 86465661 BE LINGUAL 

5. 86453263 THE KID'S DENTIST 

6. 86453809 K KOON ARTESANOS 

7. 86478825 TABORSPACE 

8. 86064163 CERTIFICA TIONKITS 

9. 86213660 BOSTON TECHNOLOGIES 

10. 86463356 EXPORTER OF THE YEAR 

11. 86447861 DALLAS METAL ROOFS 

12. 86398382 BIG RIG RESCUE 

13. 86306329 KP HOLE 

14. 86388040 INSURANCE OUTFITTERS 

15. 86361623 ELITE GERMAN SHEPHERDS 

16. 86489055 NATURAL DOG COMPANY 

17. 86261586 SERVICE SUPPLY SINCE 1949 

18. 86159324 TRAVER TINE MART 

19. 86182666 FLORJDA CENTER FOR RECOVERY INC. 

20. 86382721 EMPOWERED BIRTH METHOD 

21. 86367108 PR WORLD AWARDS 

22. 86367106 IT WORLD AW ARDS 

23. 86367080 CONSUMER WORLD A WARDS 

24. 86367066 WOMEN WORLD A WARDS 

25. 86367054 CEO WORLD A WARDS 

26. 86367010 CUSTOMER SALES AND SERVICE WORLD AWARDS 

27. 
86352351 

CULINARY CREATIONS CATERJNG WITH A 
CREATIVE TOUCH 

28. 
86287979 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA TRADITIONAL 
KODOKAN JUDO 

29. 86306642 COOPER BROS ASPHALT PAVING 

30. 86301343 PRJME NATIONAL CREDIT REPAIR 

31. 86315893 SOLE SUPPORT 

32. 86306354 KAY AK AND KOFFEE 

33. 86299008 BAKER RESIDENTIAL 

34. 86153137 TRIBAL TYPES 

35. 8631l551 [DESIGN MARK] 

36. 86301536 INFLATION INDUCED DEBT DESTRUCTION 

37. 86297646 SAHADI'S 
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. 
Application Serial . 

Mark 
/. i ·.· .. 

I Number .. 

38. 86297616 SAHADI'S IMPORTING CO., INC. 

39. 
86286493 

COOL AIR SOLUTIONS HEATING AND AIR 
CONDITIONING 

40. 86282274 OPTICLUB 

41. 86249963 JEWELRY & ELECTRONICS EXCHANGE 

42. 86226090 VAN DER HAGEN 

43. 86076628 XPERT FULFILLMENT 

44. 
86200693 

SWEDISH INSTITUTE COLLEGE OF HEALTH 
SCIENCES I9I6 

45. 86142179 SHAKE .... AlM .... AND SQUIRT.. .. 

46. 86242742 MATHSPORT 

47. 86158I22 CORTLANDT SELF STORAGE 

48. 86184202 YOGASIGN 

49. 
86I37I54 

EQUATIONS: THE GAME OF CREATIVE 
MATHEMATICS 

50. 86173454 GRALL 

51. 86I30058 COMPLETE MERCHANT SOLUTIONS 

52. 86I4738I lNVEST IN AUSTIN 

53. 86I3878I MISS SAN FRANCISCO 

54. 86057664 WATSONVILLE AUTO BODY 

55. 86199415 SUPERMART.COM 

56. 86086929 FAST ACTING ADULT BRACES 

57. 8606062I CHARM N JEWELRY 

58. 86048577 AGRETAIL 

59. 
86003040 

JOURNAL OF ARCHITECTURAL AND PLANNING 
RESEARCH 
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EXHIBITB 
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Specimens submitted to the Office in the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/082,632 for the mark "CAMO 
COMEDY" submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on 
October 4, 2013; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/091,374 for the mark "SWANK 
LIFE" submitted to the Office by The Trademark Company on 
October 15, 2013; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/100,026 for the mark "GIRLS 
LOVE LEGGINGS" submitted to the Office by The Trademark 
Company on October 24, 2013; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/199,944 for the mark "FRESH 
LOCAL PRODUCT" submitted to the Office by The Trademark 
Company on February 21, 2014. 
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Specimens submitted to the Office 1n the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/141,088 for the mark "THE 
NEW CHES SE OF CA YAMBE ECUADOR," submitted to the 
Office by The Trademark Company on December 11, 2013; 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 80 of 136 PageID# 665

Appx444

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 203     Filed: 01/11/2017



Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 81 of 136 PageID# 666

Appx445

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 204     Filed: 01/11/2017



Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 82 of 136 PageID# 667

Appx446

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 205     Filed: 01/11/2017



• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/145,034 for the mark 
"BLOODPUNK," submitted to the Office by The Trademark 
Company on May 15, 2014. 
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Specimens submitted to the Office in the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S Trademark Application No. 86/325,801 for the mark "LIVE 
DEEP," filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on July 
1, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/097,637 for the mark "DO 
YOU STAY TRUE LIFESTYLES," filed with the USPTO by The 
Trademark Company on May 13, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/174,461 for a design mark filed 
with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on May 16, 2014 (a 
substitute specimen); 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/332,208 for the mark "MADE 
IN AMEREEKA,'' filed with the USPTO by The Trademark 
Company on July 9, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/286,040 for the mark "MY 
BLOCK MY HOOD MY CITY," filed with the USPTO by The 
Trademark Company on May 20, 2014; and 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 94 of 136 PageID# 679

Appx458

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 217     Filed: 01/11/2017



I ' - I ~- - I -- - -- - -- I - -

IV\Y BLOCK tv\Y HOOD MY C1TY 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 95 of 136 PageID# 680

Appx459

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 218     Filed: 01/11/2017



• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/333,454 for the mark "4061," 
filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on July 10, 
2014. 
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Specimens submitted to the Office in the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/032,298 for the mark "BANG 
UR HEAD," filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company on 
December 11, 2013; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/032,268 for the mark 
"NOCTURNAL NONTYPICAL," filed with the USPTO by The 
Trademark Company on December 11, 2013; 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 101 of 136 PageID# 686

Appx465

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 224     Filed: 01/11/2017



- - - _l_ 

Case 1:16-cv-00015-LO-IDD   Document 18-1   Filed 03/22/16   Page 102 of 136 PageID# 687

Appx466

Case: 16-2541      Document: 32     Page: 225     Filed: 01/11/2017



• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/036,370 for the mark "DON'T 
LET HIM LIVE IN THE DARI(," filed with the USPTO by The 
Trademark Company on December 11, 2013; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/072,750 for the mark "LIQUID 
SURF ACES" filed with the USPTO by The Trademark Company 
on April 1, 2015. 
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Specimens submitted to the Office in the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S. Trademark Application No. 85/849,588 for the mark "SHE'S 
A 10! WEAR," filed on February 19, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/176,924 for the mark 
"WHAT'S IN YOUR GENES," filed on January 28, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/176,944 for the mark 
"WHAT'S IN MY GENES," filed on January 28, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/180,380 for the mark "LIFE 
CYCLE," specimens filed on July 9, 2014; 
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Specimens submitted to the Office 1n the following trademark 
applications: 

• U.S. Trademark Application No. · 86/219,272 for the mark 
"HEALTH CIRCULATOR," specimens filed on March 12, 2014, 
and July 10, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/226,090 for the mark "VAN 
DER HAGEN," filed on March 19, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/240,315 for the mark 
"OSPREY POWER PLATFORM," filed on April 2, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/273,334 for the mark "STEM 
ENHANCER BIOXCELL," filed on May 6, 2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/303,859 for the mark 
"AMERICAN CRANES & TRANSPORT AC&T," filed on June 9, 
2014; 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/303,783 for the mark 
"ACCESS, LIFT & HANDLERS ALH," filed on June 9, 2014; and 
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• U.S. Trademark Application No. 86/223,316 for the mark "TEAM 
NETWORK SOLUTIONS TRAINING EVENTS MARKETING,'' 
filed on March 17, 2014. 
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About Us 

Providing Consulting and Various other services including consulting for 
sustainable business solutions, business marketing consulting, consulting 
for internet marketing, consulting services to childcare organizations, and 
event planning and management for marketing and branding. 

Also providing leadership development training in the field of business and 
for edcuators. 
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About Us 

Providing Consulting and Various other services including consulting for 
sustainable business solutions, business marketing consulting, consulting 
for internet marketing, consulting services to childcare organizations, and 
event planning and management for marketing and branding. 

Also providing leadership development training in the field of business and 
for edcuators. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 11th day of January, 2017, a true and correct copy 
of the foregoing was served on counsel for Defendants via CM/ECF.  

/s/ Anne M. Sterba 
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